Army Research Laboratory



Portable Android Dari and Pashto Soft Keyboard

by Michael Lee

ARL-TN-0560

August 2013

Approved for public release; distribution unlimited.

NOTICES

Disclaimers

The findings in this report are not to be construed as an official Department of the Army position unless so designated by other authorized documents.

Citation of manufacturer's or trade names does not constitute an official endorsement or approval of the use thereof.

Destroy this report when it is no longer needed. Do not return it to the originator.

Army Research Laboratory

Adelphi, MD 20783-1197

August 2013

Portable Android Dari and Pashto Soft Keyboard

Michael Lee Computational and Information Sciences Directorate, ARL

Approved for public release; distribution unlimited.

-	REPORT DO	Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188					
Public reporting burden for data needed, and completi burden, to Department of Respondents should be av valid OMB control numbe PLEASE DO NOT R	or this collection of informat ing and reviewing the collect Defense, Washington Headd ware that notwithstanding an er. RETURN YOUR FORM	ion is estimated to average 1 hd ion information. Send commen uarters Services, Directorate fc y other provision of law, no p 1 TO THE ABOVE ADD	bur per response, including t nts regarding this burden est or Information Operations a erson shall be subject to an RESS.	he time for reviewing imate or any other asp nd Reports (0704-0188 y penalty for failing to	instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the ect of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing the 8), 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22202-4302, comply with a collection of information if it does not display a currently		
1. REPORT DATE ((DD-MM-YYYY)	2. REPORT TYPE			3. DATES COVERED (From - To)		
August 2013		Final			July 3, 2013		
4. TITLE AND SUB	TITLE				5a. CONTRACT NUMBER		
Portable Androi	id Dari and Pasht	o Soft Keyboard					
					5b. GRANT NUMBER		
					5c. PROGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER		
6. AUTHOR(S)					5d. PROJECT NUMBER		
Michael Lee					R.0006163.9		
					Se. TASK NUMBER		
					5f. WORK UNIT NUMBER		
			2)				
US Army Res	earch Laboratory		<i>)</i>		REPORT NUMBER		
ATTN: RDRL-	CII-B						
2800 Powder M	fill Road				ARL-TN-0560		
Adelphi, MD 20	0783-1197						
9. SPONSORING/M	IONITORING AGENC	Y NAME(S) AND ADDR	ESS(ES)		10. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S)		
					11. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S REPORT NUMBER(S)		
		EMENT					
Approved for p	ublic release; dist	ribution unlimited.					
13. SUPPLEMENTA	ARY NOTES						
This report desc source platform and Pashto keyl	cribes the process called AnySoftK boards are describ	of creating a porta Leyboard. The keyb bed and included as	ble Dari and Pas board layout exte s appendixes in th	hto soft keybo nsible markup nis report.	pard for an Android device using an open- b language (XML) files that define the Dari		
15. SUBJECT TERM	MS Dachto Vorita	rd Any Soft Varity	ard				
Allaroia, DARI	, rasino, K eydoa	iu, Anysonkeybo			I		
16. SECURITY CLA	ASSIFICATION OF:		17. LIMITATION OF ABSTRACT UU	OF PAGES	19a. NAME OF RESPONSIBLE PERSON Michael Lee		
a. REPORT	b. ABSTRACT	c. THIS PAGE		30	19b. TELEPHONE NUMBER (Include area code)		
Unclassified	Unclassified	Unclassified		50	(301) 394-5608		

Standard Form 298 (Rev. 8/98) Prescribed by ANSI Std. Z39.18

Contents

Lis	st of Figures	iv
1.	Introduction	1
2.	AnySoftKeyboard	2
3.	Creating AnySoftKeyboard Language Packs	3
4.	Keyboard Layout XML File	6
5.	Activating Dari and Pashto Soft Keyboards	8
6.	Conclusion	12
7.	References	13
Ар	opendix A. AndroidManifest.xml	15
Ар	opendix B. qwerty_dari.xml	17
Ар	opendix C. qwerty_pashto.xml	19
Ар	opendix D. keyboards.xml	23
Dis	stribution List	24

List of Figures

Figure 1. Android's English soft keyboard for entering English terms	1
Figure 2. ARL's virtual Dari keyboard for entering Dari terms.	2
Figure 3. Example of AnySoftKeyboard layout.	3
Figure 4. AnySoftKeyboard language pack template imported to Eclipse IDE as an Android project.	4
Figure 5. AndroidManifest.xml updated with the new package name (circled)	5
Figure 6. Pashto and Dari keyboard entries in keyboards.xml	6
Figure 7. Example of a "Row" element containing 10 "Key" elements	7
Figure 8. List of alternate available characters for the selected key	7
Figure 9. AnySoftKeyboard's settings page.	8
Figure 10. List of available keyboard layouts recognized by AnySoftKeyboard	9
Figure 11. Set AnySoftKeyboard as the device's default keyboard	0
Figure 12. Dari soft keyboard10	0
Figure 13. Pashto soft keyboard1	1
Figure 14. Pop-up dialog box that lists available keyboards to choose from	1
Figure 15. New Medical Phrasebook app using the AnySoftKeyboard extensions12	2

1. Introduction

Google's Android is the most widely adopted mobile device operating system (OS) in the world. By the 1st quarter of 2012, Android was installed on 59.1% of all mobile phones (followed by Apple's iOS with 23.0%) (1). The popularity of Android is attributed to its free open-source development model and rich set of features for the application ("app") developers. In 2012, the U.S. Army Research Laboratory (ARL) developed an Android app called the Medical Phrasebook to serve as a bilingual English-Dari glossary of more than 6000 technical medical terms (2). The Medical Phrasebook was a simple app. It allows a user to type an English phrase using an English soft keyboard (figure 1) to look up a Dari translation. Similarly, the user would type a Dari phrase into the app to look up an English translation. The Dari text input method was an area of concern.



Figure 1. Android's English soft keyboard for entering English terms.

Android provides wide selection of keyboards for many predominant foreign languages (e.g., Arabic, French, German, Hindi, Persian, Vietnamese, etc.) and even some lesser-used languages (e.g., Catalan, Esperanto, Icelandic, Kirghiz, Malay, etc.). However, the Android OS does not provide an input method for Dari characters and there are no third-party soft keyboards that support Dari. As a result, ARL developed and integrated a custom Dari virtual keyboard with the Medical Phrasebook app (figure 2). The custom Dari virtual keyboard was sufficient for the Medical Phrasebook app, but it was not a real Android soft keyboard, meaning that it was not

exportable and other developers could not use ARL's Dari keyboard in their app (without heavily refactoring their source code to integrate the virtual keyboard).

<u>ه</u>	\mathbb{M}	Ŷ		3 ↑	G ∔ ill	• 5	5:33 pm	
inglish	-Dari	Medio	cal Ph	raseb	ook			
ENG	IISH	I						
Di	ARI							
Clea	ar All							
			<u> </u>					
ę	a	а	û	ت	Ŷ	ų	ı	
ش	س	ĵ	j	J	ذ	د	ż	
ڧ	ف	Ė	£	ä	ь	ض	ص	
ى	٥	g	ن	ρ	J	گ	ک	

Figure 2. ARL's virtual Dari keyboard for entering Dari terms.

This report describes how ARL re-approached the Dari text input method and created a reusable Android Dari soft keyboard using an open-source platform.

2. AnySoftKeyboard

AnySoftKeyboard (figure 3) is a popular Android soft keyboard and an open-source platform (*3*) that can be used to build additional language packs. It is ideal for a general user searching for a soft keyboard alternative to Google's built-in soft keyboard as AnySoftKeyboard is freely available for download from Google's app store (*4*). In addition to rich features built into AnySoftKeyboard for general users, the keyboard is also highly customizable and extensible to additional languages. This flexibility is one of the main reasons why Android developers are drawn to AnySoftKeyboard. Many developers have already used AnySoftKeyboard to create language packs for lesser-used languages (e.g., Devangari, Tamil, Persian, Kannada, Sindhi, Telugu, etc.) for the Android community.



Figure 3. Example of AnySoftKeyboard layout.

3. Creating AnySoftKeyboard Language Packs

Adding a new keyboard to AnySoftKeyboard is referred to as adding a new "Language Pack." In order to create a new language pack for AnySoftKeyboard, a new Android project must be created in Eclipse Integrated Development Environment (IDE) (figure 4). To facilitate this process, the creators of AnySoftKeyboard have developed an easily modifiable language pack template for new keyboards. The template project is available for download from https://github.com/AnySoftKeyboard/LanguagePack. Once the template is downloaded, the user can import it into Eclipse as a new Android project. Since the project is a template, basic name changes need to be made. As such, the project should be renamed to a suitable name (e.g., AnySoftKeyboardLanguagePackPashto) and default package name changed from "com.anysoftkeyboard.languagepack.change_me" to reflect the new project (e.g.,

com.anysoftkeyboard.languagepack.pashto). The new package name must also be updated in two places in the project's AndroidManifest.xml file. Figure 5 shows an example of an updated AndroidManifest.xml (the full file is in appendix A).

```
AnySoftKeyboardLanguagePackPashto
  ⊿ (<sup>#</sup> src)
     a 🌐 com.anysoftkeyboard.languagepack.pashto
        KeyboardBroadcastReceiver.java
  Ben [Generated Java Files]
  Google APIs [Android 4.1.2]
  B assets
  🖻 📴 bin
  🔺 📴 res
     ▲ ⇒ drawable
          📭 app_icon.png
          📭 flag.png
       🗁 layout
     🔺 🗁 values
           dimens.xml
          d strings.xml
     🔺 🗁 values-land
          dimens.xml
     🔺 🗁 xml
          dictionaries.xml
           keyboards.xml
          qwerty_dari.xml
          d qwerty_pashto.xml
          d qwerty.xml
          ru_physical.xml
     AndroidManifest.xml
     project.properties
```

Figure 4. AnySoftKeyboard language pack template imported to Eclipse IDE as an Android project.

```
<?xml version="1.0" encoding="utf-8"?>
<manifest_xmlns:android="http://schemas
                                                         'res/android'
                                        android.com/apk
    package="com.anysoftkeyboard.languagepack.pashto"
      android:versionCode="0
     android:versionName="20100426-i-want-to-share">
    <application android:icon="@drawable/app icon" android:label="@string/app name</pre>
        <receiver android:exported="true" android:name="com.anysoftkeyboard.languagepack.pashto.KeyboardBroadcastReceiver">
            <intent-filter>
                <action android:name="com.menny.android.anysoftkeyboard.KEYBOARD" />
                <category android:name="android.intent.category.DEFAULT"/>
                <category android:name="android.intent.category.ALTERNATIVE"
                <category android:name="android.intent.category.SELECTED_ALTERNATIVE" />
            </intent-filter>
            <intent-filter>
                <action android:name="com.menny.android.anysoftkeyboard.DICTIONARY" />
                <category android:name="android.intent.category.DEFAULT"/>
                <category android:name="android.intent.category.ALTERNATIVE" />
                <category android:name="android.intent.category.SELECTED ALTERNATIVE" />
            </intent-filter>
            <meta-data android:name="com.menny.android.anysoftkeyboard.keyboards" android:resource="@xml/keyboards" />
            <meta-data android:name="com.menny.android.anysoftkeyboard.dictionaries" android:resource="@xml/dictionaries" />
        </receiver>
   </application>
   <uses-sdk android:minSdkVersion="3" android:targetSdkVersion="4"></uses-sdk></uses-sdk>
   <supports-screens
          android:largeScreens="true"
          android:normalScreens="true
          android:smallScreens="true
          android:anyDensity="true" />
         <!-- http://d.android.com/guide/practices/screens_support.html read about legacy. -->
</manifest>
```

Figure 5. AndroidManifest.xml updated with the new package name (circled).

For each new keyboard, a new extensible markup language (XML) keyboard layout file must be created in the "res/xml" folder. The layout file(s) are the center of the project and define all aspects of the keyboard: number of rows of keys, number of keys in each row, primary Unicode value of each key, alternate Unicode values of each key, etc. This Android project has two user-defined layout files; one for Dari and one for Pashto (please see appendix B for the Dari keyboard layout file and appendix C for the Pashto keyboard layout file). Existing resources in the Android open-source community were reused when possible. Persian is an open-source language module available for AnySoftKeyboard, and the Persian keyboard is suitable for Dari text. This open-source Persian module (5) was used to build the Dari layout file. The Pashto layout file was designed by an ARL Dari/Pashto linguist to duplicate the layout on a physical Pashto keyboard (please see section 4 for details on how to create a keyboard layout file).

Once the keyboard layout files are prepared, they must be registered in the keyboards.xml file located in the "res/xml" folder so that AnySoftKeyboard is aware of the available keyboards to list for the user. The template project is shipped with a template keyboards.xml that includes a sample entry. We added two "keyboard" elements to keyboards.xml to encompass the Dari and Pashto keyboards (figure 6). Most attributes of the keyboard element are self-explanatory. The "id" attribute specifies the universally unique identifier (UUID) to use as the keyboard identifier (an online tool [6] is available for generating UUIDs); the "layoutResId" and "landscapeResId" attributes specify the keyboard XML file that defines the current keyboard layout; and the "defaultDictionaryLocal" attribute specifies the two character language code for the keyboard (e.g., Dari = "fa", Pashto = "ps"). Please see appendix D for the final keyboards.xml used for this

project. The user completes the project by generating an Android application package (APK) file and deploying it to an Android device. Note that this APK file is not an independent runnable app and is not launched like a typical app. Please see section 5 for details on how to enable the Dari and Pashto keyboards.

```
<Kevboard
id="d8adedae-3fd1-464c-96ce-edf8df04d379"
nameResId="@string/keyboard pashto"
layoutResId="@xml/gwerty pashto"
landscapeResId="@xml/qwerty_pashto"
iconResId="@drawable/flag'
defaultDictionaryLocale="ps"
description="Pashto keyboard. ARL"
index="2"/>
<Keyboard
id="f4f9571c-7383-4b20-913f-182b56f6547e"
nameResId="@string/keyboard dari"
layoutResId="@xml/qwerty dari"
landscapeResId="@xml/qwerty dari"
iconResId="@drawable/flag"
defaultDictionaryLocale="fa"
description="Dari keyboard. ARL"
index="3"/>
```

Figure 6. Pashto and Dari keyboard entries in keyboards.xml

4. Keyboard Layout XML File

The keyboard layout XML files are the most important files in the project. A keyboard layout file must be created in the "res/xml" folder for each keyboard. A sample keyboard layout file, qwerty.xml, included with the template project can be used as a starting point or renamed. The layout file can be named any filename, but the filename cannot contain uppercase letters. A filename such as "qwerty Pashto.xml" will throw an exception.

Creating the layout file is simple and intuitive. The visual layout of the keyboard is primarily defined using the "Row" and "Key" XML elements. For example, to create a keyboard with 3 rows, with each row containing 10 keys, the layout file will have 3"Row" XML elements and each "Row" element will have 10 "Key" elements as children (figure 7). The "Key" element is where a character is defined and mapped. The "Key" element has three main attributes to define its functionality: "android:codes", "android:keyLabel", and "android:popupCharacters". All three attributes are placeholders for Decimal Unicode (not to be mistaken with the more commonly used Hexadecimal Unicode). Decimal Unicode value is preceded by "&#" and ends with ";" character. Every character has a hexadecimal Unicode and decimal Unicode—it is very

important to enter the decimal Unicode values for these attributes. For example, the Arabic character "Gaf" has hexadecimal Unicode value 0x06AF and decimal Unicode value 1711. The "android:keyLabel" attribute is a visual indicator of the letter, it specifies what character is superimposed on top of the keyboard key. The "android:codes" attribute specifies the character that is entered (in a text field) when a user presses the key. In most cases, "android:codes" and "android:keyLabel" attributes will have the same decimal Unicode values. If desired, "android:codes" and "android:keyLabel" attributes can have different values without raising compilation errors. Finally, the "android:popupCharacters" attribute specifies alternate characters for the key. A typical U.S. keyboard has one alternate character for each key, but AnySoftkeyboard allows many alternate characters for each key. Alternate characters are defined by concatenating decimal Unicodes in the "android:popupCharacters" attribute. A user can display list of alternate choices by pressing down on the key (figure 8). Please see appendix B for the Dari keyboard layout XML file and appendix C for the Pashto keyboard layout XML file.

<row android:keywidth="10%p"></row>		
<key <="" android:codes="1592" td=""><td>android:keyLabel="ظ"</td><td>'android:popupCharacters="ئ" android:keyEdgeFlags="left"/></td></key>	android:keyLabel="ظ"	'android:popupCharacters="ئ" android:keyEdgeFlags="left"/>
<key <="" android:codes="1591" td=""><td>android:keyLabel="ط"</td><td>android:popupCharacters="ې"/></td></key>	android:keyLabel="ط"	android:popupCharacters="ې"/>
<key <="" android:codes="1586" td=""><td>android:keyLabel="ز"</td><td><pre>android:popupCharacters="ژ"/></pre></td></key>	android:keyLabel="ز"	<pre>android:popupCharacters="ژ"/></pre>
<key <="" android:codes="1585" td=""><td>android:keyLabel="ر"</td><td><pre>android:popupCharacters="ء"/></pre></td></key>	android:keyLabel="ر"	<pre>android:popupCharacters="ء"/></pre>
<key <="" android:codes="1584" td=""><td>android:keyLabel="ذ"</td><td>android:popupCharacters="‌"/></td></key>	android:keyLabel="ذ"	android:popupCharacters="‌"/>
<key <="" android:codes="1583" td=""><td>android:keyLabel="د"</td><td>android:popupCharacters="ډ"/></td></key>	android:keyLabel="د"	android:popupCharacters="ډ"/>
<key <="" android:codes="1683" td=""><td>android:keyLabel="ړ"</td><td><pre>android:popupCharacters="ؤ"/></pre></td></key>	android:keyLabel="ړ"	<pre>android:popupCharacters="ؤ"/></pre>
<key <="" android:codes="1608" td=""><td>android:keyLabel="و"</td><td><pre>android:popupCharacters="،,<"/></pre></td></key>	android:keyLabel="و"	<pre>android:popupCharacters="،,<"/></pre>
<key <="" android:codes="1686" td=""><td>android:keyLabel="ږ"</td><td>android:popupCharacters=".>"/></td></key>	android:keyLabel="ږ"	android:popupCharacters=".>"/>
<key <="" android:codes="0047" td=""><td>android:keyLabel="/" andro</td><td>id:popupCharacters="؟?" android:keyEdgeFlags="right"/></td></key>	android:keyLabel="/" andro	id:popupCharacters="؟?" android:keyEdgeFlags="right"/>



Figure 7. Example of a "Row" element containing 10 "Key" elements.

Figure 8. List of alternate available characters for the selected key.

5. Activating Dari and Pashto Soft Keyboards

The Dari and Pashto soft keyboards are extensions of AnySoftKeyboard and therefore require the main AnySoftKeyboard app (which is found in the Google app store). The user should open the AnySoftKeyboard's settings page and then select the "Keyboards" option found under the "Languages" section (figure 9). The "Keyboards" page allows the user to specify what keyboard layouts to activate. A list of available keyboard layouts is displayed (figure 10).

¢											
a	ask Keyboard settings										
	AnySoftKeyboard 20130617 (v105) Copyright © 2013 Menny Even-Danan										
	Help Additional help about AnySoftKeyboard LANGUAGES										
	Keyboards Keyboard layouts for use in AnySoftKeyboard										
	Special dictionaries Suggestion dictionaries used in AnySoftKeyboard										
	USER INTERFACE										

Figure 9. AnySoftKeyboard's settings page.



Figure 10. List of available keyboard layouts recognized by AnySoftKeyboard.

To enable the Dari and Pashto layouts, select "Dari Keyboard" and "Pashto keyboard." Go to the Android device's "Language & input" settings page and set AnySoftKeyboard as the device's default keyboard (figure 11). The Dari (figure 12) and Pashto (figure 13) soft keyboards are now activated. When a user focuses on any text field, AnySoftKeyboard now appears by default. To switch to other available keyboards, click on the keyboard selector button (located on the top-right-most corner of the keyboard) to cycle through the keyboards or hold down the keyboard selector button to see a pop-up dialog box (figure 14) that lists the available keyboards to choose from. The current keyboard is identified by the label on the space bar. For example, the Pashto keyboard will have the text "Pashto Keyboard" on the spacebar.



Figure 11. Set AnySoftKeyboard as the device's default keyboard.



Figure 12. Dari soft keyboard.

123!#()					0	€			Dari keyboard			
١.	۲	۳.	۴	۵	۶ "	۲.	٨	٩	•	- =		
ض	ص	ث	ق	ف	ف	e	٥	ځ	ک	ی ۳	۲ گ	
ۣش	ۣس	ى	J	, ر	١	1	。ت	ٍ ن	٩	ځ	ِ گ	
Ë	ط	P P) ;	ء د	ذ	د	4	۽ لا	9	ગ	/ *	
2				(Pashto	o keyboai			C	2		

Figure 13. Pashto soft keyboard.

	ask Select keyboard											
	English keyboard											
	Pashto keyboard											
	Dari keyboard											
	Cancel											
	12	.3:#()			\checkmark	-	-		Dari	кеур	oaru	
۱	۲	٣	۴	۵	۶	V	٨	٩	•	-	=	×

Figure 14. Pop-up dialog box that lists available keyboards to choose from.

6. Conclusion

Previously, there was no way to enter Dari or Pashto characters in an Android app. As an initial attempt, ARL created a custom virtual Dari keyboard with the Medical Phrasebook app, but it was hardwired into the app and was not exportable to other developers in the Android community. ARL addressed this limitation with the updated version of the Medical Phrasebook app (figure 15) using an open-source keyboard platform called AnySoftKeyboard. The new Dari and Pashto soft keyboards are now a light and exportable app that gives any Android device the ability to enter Dari and Pashto characters without adding complexities of handling Dari/Pashto characters in the app.



Figure 15. New Medical Phrasebook app using the AnySoftKeyboard extensions.

7. References

- Android and iOS Combine for 92.3% of All Smartphone Operating System Shipments in the First Quarter While Windows Phone Leapfrogs BlackBerry, According to IDC. <u>http://www.idc.com/getdoc.jsp?containerId=prUS24108913</u> (accessed June 2013).
- 2. Winkler, Robert; Metu, Somiya; LaRocca Steve; Jahed, Ghulam. *English-to-Dari and Dari-to-English Medical Phrasebook Android Application Software System Documentation*; ARL-TR-5975; U.S. Army Research Laboratory: Adelphi, MD, 2012.
- 3. AnySoftKeyboard project home. <u>https://code.google.com/p/softkeyboard/</u> (accessed June 2013).
- 4. AnySoftKeyboard download page. <u>https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=com.menny.android.anysoftkeyboard&hl=en</u> (accessed June 2013).
- Persian for AnySoftKeyboard. <u>https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=com.anysoftkeyboard.languagepack.persian&h</u> <u>l=en</u> (accessed July 2013).
- 6. UUID Generator. <u>http://www.famkruithof.net/uuid/uuidgen</u> (accessed July 2013).

INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.

Appendix A. AndroidManifest.xml

The following is the AndroidManfest.xml file.

```
<?xml version="1.0" encoding="utf-8"?>
<manifest xmlns:android="http://schemas.android.com/apk/res/android"
   package="com.anysoftkeyboard.languagepack.pashto"
   android:versionCode="0"
   android:versionName="20100426-i-want-to-share">
  <application android:icon="@drawable/app_icon" android:label="@string/app_name">
       <receiver android:exported="true"
android:name="com.anysoftkeyboard.languagepack.pashto.KeyboardBroadcastReceiver">
              <intent-filter>
        <action android:name="com.menny.android.anysoftkeyboard.KEYBOARD" />
        <category android:name="android.intent.category.DEFAULT"/>
        <category android:name="android.intent.category.ALTERNATIVE" />
        <category android:name="android.intent.category.SELECTED_ALTERNATIVE" />
      </intent-filter>
      <intent-filter>
        <action android:name="com.menny.android.anysoftkeyboard.DICTIONARY" />
        <category android:name="android.intent.category.DEFAULT"/>
        <category android:name="android.intent.category.ALTERNATIVE" />
        <category android:name="android.intent.category.SELECTED_ALTERNATIVE" />
      </intent-filter>
      <meta-data android:name="com.menny.android.anysoftkeyboard.keyboards"
android:resource="@xml/keyboards" />
      <meta-data android:name="com.menny.android.anysoftkeyboard.dictionaries"
android:resource="@xml/dictionaries" />
       </receiver>
  </application>
  <uses-sdk android:minSdkVersion="3" android:targetSdkVersion="4"></uses-sdk>
       <supports-screens
     android:largeScreens="true"
     android:normalScreens="true"
     android:smallScreens="true"
```

android:anyDensity="true" />

<!-- http://d.android.com/guide/practices/screens_support.html read about legacy. -->
</manifest>

INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.

Appendix B. qwerty_dari.xml

The following is the Dari keyboard file.

```
<?xml version="1.0" encoding="utf-8"?>
<Keyboard xmlns:android="http://schemas.android.com/apk/res/android"
xmlns:ask="http://schemas.android.com/apk/res/com.anysoftkeyboard.languagepack.pashto
   android:keyWidth="10%p"
   android:horizontalGap="0px"
   android:verticalGap="0px"
   android:keyHeight="@dimen/key height"
   >
   <Row android:keyWidth="10%p">
       <Key android:codes="1590" android:keyLabel="&#1590;"
android:popupCharacters="۰" android:keyEdgeFlags="left"/>
       <Key android:codes="1589" android:keyLabel="&#1589;"
android:popupCharacters="۱"/>
       <Key android:codes="1602" android:keyLabel="&#1602;"
android:popupCharacters="۲"/>
       <Key android:codes="1601" android:keyLabel="&#1601;"
android:popupCharacters="۳"/>
       <Key android:codes="1594" android:keyLabel="&#1594;"
android:popupCharacters="۴"/>
       <Key android:codes="1593" android:keyLabel="&#1593;"
android:popupCharacters="۵"/>
       <Key android:codes="1607" android:keyLabel="&#1607;"
android:popupCharacters="۶"/>
       <Key android:codes="1582" android:keyLabel="&#1582;"
android:popupCharacters="۷"/>
       <Key android:codes="1581" android:keyLabel="&#1581;"
android:popupCharacters="۸"/>
       <Key android:codes="1580" android:keyLabel="&#1580;"
android:popupCharacters="۹" android:keyEdgeFlags="right"/>
   </Row>
   <Row android:keyWidth="10%p">
       <Key android:codes="1588" android:keyLabel="&#1588;"
android:keyEdgeFlags="left"/>
       <Key android:codes="1587" android:keyLabel="&#1587;"
android:popupCharacters="٪"/>
       <Key android:codes="1740" android:keyLabel="&#1740;"
android:popupCharacters="ئي"/>
       <Key android:codes="1576" android:keyLabel="&#1576;"/>
       <Key android:codes="1604" android:keyLabel="&#1604;"/>
       <Key android:codes="1575" android:keyLabel="&#1575;'
android:popupCharacters="آ"/>
       <Key android:codes="1578" android:keyLabel="&#1578;"/>
       <Key android:codes="1606" android:keyLabel="&#1606;"/>
       <Key android:codes="1605" android:keyLabel="&#1605;"/>
       <Key android:codes="1705" android:keyLabel="&#1705;"
android:popupCharacters="گ" android:keyEdgeFlags="right"/>
   </Row>
```

```
<Row android:keyWidth="10%p">
      <Key android:codes="1592" android:keyLabel="&#1592;"
android:keyEdgeFlags="left"/>
        <Key android:codes="1591" android:keyLabel="&#1591;"/>
        <Key android:codes="1586" android:keyLabel="&#1586;"
android:popupCharacters="ژ"/>
        <Key android:codes="1585" android:keyLabel="&#1585;"/>
        <Key android:codes="1584" android:keyLabel="&#1584;"/>
        <Key android:codes="1583" android:keyLabel="&#1583;"/>
        <Key android:codes="1608" android:keyLabel="&#1608;"
android:popupCharacters="ؤ"/>
        <Key android:codes="1670" android:keyLabel="&#1670;"/>
        <Key android:codes="-5" android:keyEdgeFlags="right" android:keyWidth="20%p"
android:isRepeatable="true"/>
    </Row>
    <Row android:rowEdgeFlags="bottom">
        <Key android:codes="1567" android:keyLabel="&#1567;"
android:popupCharacters=" -?" android:keyEdgeFlags="left"/>
        <Key android:codes="1548" android:keyLabel="&#1548;"
android:popupCharacters=","/>
        <Key android:codes="46" android:keyLabel="."
android:popupCharacters="؛;" />
        <Key android:codes="32" android:keyWidth="35%p"/>
        <Key android:codes="65163" android:keyLabel="&#65163;"
android:popupCharacters="ء" android:keyEdgeFlags="right"/>
        <Key android:codes="1662" android:keyLabel="&#1662;"
android:popupCharacters="ث"/>
        <Key android:codes="10" android:keyWidth="15%p"
android:keyEdgeFlags="right"/>
    </Row>
</Keyboard>
```

Appendix C. qwerty_pashto.xml

The following is the Pashto keyboard file.

```
<?xml version="1.0" encoding="utf-8"?>
<Keyboard xmlns:android="http://schemas.android.com/apk/res/android"
xmlns:ask="http://schemas.android.com/apk/res/com.anysoftkeyboard.languagepack.pashto
   android:keyWidth="10%p"
   android:horizontalGap="0px"
   android:verticalGap="0px"
   android:keyHeight="@dimen/key height"
   >
   <Row android:keyWidth="8%p">
       <Key android:codes="1777" android:keyLabel="&#1777;"
android:popupCharacters="۰" android:keyEdgeFlags="left"/>
       <Key android:codes="1778" android:keyLabel="&#1778;"
android:popupCharacters="۹"/>
       <Key android:codes="1779" android:keyLabel="&#1779;"
android:popupCharacters="»"/>
       <Key android:codes="1780" android:keyLabel="&#1780;"
android:popupCharacters="«"/>
       <Key android:codes="1781" android:keyLabel="&#1781;"
android:popupCharacters="×"/>
       <Key android:codes="1782" android:keyLabel="&#1782;"
android:popupCharacters="٪"/>
       <Key android:codes="1783" android:keyLabel="&#1783;"
android:popupCharacters="؋"/>
       <Key android:codes="1784" android:keyLabel="&#1784;"
android:popupCharacters="٫"/>
       <Key android:codes="1785" android:keyLabel="&#1785;"
android:popupCharacters="٬"/>
       <Key android:codes="1776" android:keyLabel="&#1776;"
android:popupCharacters="!" android:keyWidth="7%p" />
            <Key android:codes="0045" android:keyLabel="-"
android:popupCharacters="ـ" android:keyWidth="7%p"/>
            <Key android:codes="0061" android:keyLabel="="
android:popupCharacters="+" android:keyWidth="7%p"/>
            <Key android:codes="-5" android:isRepeatable="true"
android:keyWidth="7%p" android:keyEdgeFlags="right"/>
   </Row>
   <Row android:keyWidth="8%p">
       <Key android:horizontalGap="0%p" android:codes="1590"
android:keyLabel="ض" android:popupCharacters="ْ"
android:keyEdgeFlags="left"/>
       <Key android:codes="1589" android:keyLabel="&#1589;"
android:popupCharacters="ٌ"/>
       <Key android:codes="1579" android:keyLabel="&#1579;"
android:popupCharacters="ٍ"/>
            <Key android:codes="1602" android:keyLabel="&#1602;"
android:popupCharacters="ً"/>
            <Key android:codes="1601" android:keyLabel="&#1601;"
```

```
android:popupCharacters="ُ"/>
            <Key android:codes="1594" android:keyLabel="&#1594;"
android:popupCharacters="ِ"/>
            <Key android:codes="1593" android:keyLabel="&#1593;"
android:popupCharacters="َ"/>
            <Key android:codes="1607" android:keyLabel="&#1607;"
android:popupCharacters="ّ"/>
            <Key android:codes="1582" android:keyLabel="&#1582;"
android:popupCharacters="ځ"/>
            <Key android:codes="1581" android:keyLabel="&#1581;"
android:popupCharacters="څ"/>
            <Key android:codes="1580" android:keyLabel="&#1580;"
android:popupCharacters="[{"/>
       <Key android:codes="1670" android:keyLabel="&#1670;"
android:popupCharacters="]}"/>
       <Key android:codes="0092" android:keyLabel="&#0092;"
android:popupCharacters="*/" android:keyWidth="4%p"
android:keyEdgeFlags="right"/>
   </Row>
   <Row android:keyWidth="9%p">
       <Key android:codes="1588" android:keyLabel="&#1588;"
android:popupCharacters="ښ" android:keyEdgeFlags="left"/>
       <Key android:codes="1587" android:keyLabel="&#1587;"
android:popupCharacters="ۍ"/>
       <Key android:codes="1740" android:keyLabel="&#1740;"
android:popupCharacters="ۍيئې"/>
       <Key android:codes="1576" android:keyLabel="&#1576;"
android:popupCharacters="پ"/>
       <Key android:codes="1604" android:keyLabel="&#1604;"
android:popupCharacters="أ"/>
       <Key android:codes="1575" android:keyLabel="&#1575;"
android:popupCharacters="آ"/>
       <Key android:codes="1578" android:keyLabel="&#1578;"
android:popupCharacters="ټ"/>
       <Key android:codes="1606" android:keyLabel="&#1606;"
android:popupCharacters="ڼ"/>
       <Key android:codes="1605" android:keyLabel="&#1605;"
android:popupCharacters="ة"/>
       <Key android:codes="1705" android:keyLabel="&#1705;"
android:popupCharacters=":&#0059;گ" />
       <Key android:codes="1707" android:keyLabel="&#1707;"
android:popupCharacters="؛ '"" android:keyEdgeFlags="right"/>
   </Row>
   <Row android:keyWidth="10%p">
       <Key android:codes="1592" android:keyLabel="&#1592;"
android:popupCharacters="ئ" android:keyEdgeFlags="left"/>
            <Key android:codes="1591" android:keyLabel="&#1591;"
android:popupCharacters="ې"/>
       <Key android:codes="1586" android:keyLabel="&#1586;"
android:popupCharacters="&#1688:"/>
            <Key android:codes="1585" android:keyLabel="&#1585;"
android:popupCharacters="ء"/>
            <Key android:codes="1584" android:keyLabel="&#1584;"
android:popupCharacters="‌"/>
            <Key android:codes="1583" android:keyLabel="&#1583;"
```

```
android:popupCharacters="ډ"/>
            <Key android:codes="1683" android:keyLabel="&#1683;"
android:popupCharacters="ؤ"/>
            <Key android:codes="1608" android:keyLabel="&#1608;"
android:popupCharacters="،,<"/>
            <Key android:codes="1686" android:keyLabel="&#1686;"
android:popupCharacters=".>"/>
      <Key android:codes="0047" android:keyLabel="/"
android:popupCharacters="؟?" android:keyEdgeFlags="right"/>
   </Row>
   <Row android:rowEdgeFlags="bottom">
            <Key android:keyWidth="10%p" android:codes="0126"
android:keyLabel="~" android:popupCharacters="!\@#$%"
android:keyEdgeFlags="left"/>
            <Key android:keyWidth="10%p" android:codes="0096" android:keyLabel="`"
android:popupCharacters="^&*()"/>
       <Key android:horizontalGap="10%p" android:codes="32"
android:keyWidth="40%p"/>
       <Key android:horizontalGap="10%p" android:codes="10" android:keyWidth="20%p"
android:keyEdgeFlags="right"/>
   </Row>
</Keyboard>
```

INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.

Appendix D. keyboards.xml

The following is the final keyboards.xml file used.

```
<?xml version="1.0" encoding="UTF-8"?>
<Keyboards>
      <Keyboard
      id="038f264f-f757-4d24-b9d7-6b77d508c77c"
      nameResId="@string/keyboard"
      layoutResId="@xml/qwerty"
      landscapeResId="@xmL/qwerty"
      physicalKeyboardMappingResId="@xml/ru physical"
      iconResId="@drawable/flag"
      defaultDictionaryLocale="en"
      description="US Keyboard testing"
      index="1"/>
      <Keyboard
      id="d8adedae-3fd1-464c-96ce-edf8df04d379"
      nameResId="@string/keyboard_pashto"
      layoutResId="@xml/qwerty_pashto"
      landscapeResId="@xml/qwerty_pashto"
      iconResId="@drawable/flag"
      defaultDictionaryLocale="ps"
      description="Pashto keyboard. ARL"
      index="2"/>
      <Keyboard
      id="f4f9571c-7383-4b20-913f-182b56f6547e"
      nameResId="@string/keyboard dari"
      layoutResId="@xml/qwerty dari"
      landscapeResId="@xmL/qwerty_dari"
      iconResId="@drawable/flag"
      defaultDictionaryLocale="fa"
      description="Dari keyboard. ARL"
      index="3"/>
```

</Keyboards>

NO. OF

COPIES ORGANIZATION

- 1 DEFENSE TECHNICAL (PDF) INFORMATION CTR
 - ATTN DTIC OCA

2 DIRECTOR

- (PDFS) US ARMY RESEARCH LAB ATTN RDRL CIO LL ATTN IMAL HRA MAIL & RECORDS MGMT
 - 1 GOVT PRINTG OFC
- (PDF) ATTN A MALHOTRA
- 7 US ARMY RESEARCH LAB
- (PDFS) ATTN RDRL CII B BROOME ATTN RDRL CII B L TOKARCIK ATTN RDRL CII B R WINKLER ATTN RDRL CII T V HOLLAND ATTN RDRL CII T S LAROCCA ATTN RDRL CII T G JAHED ATTN RDRL CII B M LEE